**IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA**

THE SEARING AIRPORT AUTHORITY :
and SEARING INTERNATIONAL RACEWAY, :
INC., :

Appellants, :

v. :

CASE NO.: 94,118

C. RAYMOND McINTYRE, PROPERTY :
APPRAISER OF HIGHLANDS COUNTY, :
FLORIDA; and J.T. LANDRESS, :
TAX COLLECTOR OF :
HIGHLANDS COUNTY, FLORIDA, :

Appellees. :

CONSOLIDATED

THE DEPARTMENT OF :
REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA :

Appellant, :

v. :

CASE NO.: 94,105

C. RAYMOND McINTYRE, PROPERTY :
APPRAISER OF HIGHLANDS COUNTY, :
FLORIDA; and J.T. LANDRESS, :
TAX COLLECTOR OF :
HIGHLANDS COUNTY, FLORIDA, :

Appellees. :

**ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Sebring Airport Authority is a legislatively created public instrumentality.^{1/2/} From the late 1970's to 1991, the Authority promoted and operated the "Twelve Hours of Sebring" ("Race"), on real property it owns in Highlands County, Florida. In 1991, to alleviate financial difficulties and continue the race, the Authority entered into a lease agreement with Sebring International Raceway ("Raceway"), a for-profit corporation. The agreement required Raceway to assume the Authority's promotion and operation of the Race. See Sebring Airport Auth. v. McIntyre, 642 So. 2d 1072, 1072-73 (Fla. 1994) ("Sebring I").

In 1991, the Raceway sought an ad valorem tax exemption under section 196.199(2)(a), Florida Statutes, on the basis that the property was being used for public purposes. See Sebring I, 642 So. 2d at 1073. The Appraiser denied the exemption. See id. The Authority and Raceway sued the Appraiser. See id. The Authority and Raceway lost in both the trial court and before the Second District. See id. On further appeal, this Court ultimately concluded, based on a governmental/proprietary analysis, that the operation of a racetrack for-profit did not serve any public

^{1/} Appellant, Sebring Airport Authority, will be referred to as the "Authority." Appellant, Sebring International Raceway, will be referred to as the "Raceway." Co-Appellant, the Department of Revenue, State of Florida, will be referred to as the "Department." Appellee, C. Raymond, McIntyre, Property Appraiser of Highlands County, Florida will be referred to as the "Appraiser." All other entities and individuals will be referred to by name.

^{2/} All references to the Record on Appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R." followed by the appropriate volume number and page number of that volume.

purpose as defined by the then-current statutory provision. See id. at 1073-75. In construing section 196.199(2)(a), this Court held:

We have no doubt that Raceway's operation of the racetrack serves the public, but such service does not fit within the definition of a public purpose as defined by section 196.012(6).

Id. at 1074.

In 1994, the Florida Legislature amended section 196.012(6) (the "1994 Amendment"). This amendment defined a "public purpose" to include, among other uses, the use by a lessee of real property as a sports facility with permanent seating open to the general public.^{3/} Because the Raceway operated such a facility on the subject property, it sought an ad valorem tax exemption under the 1994 Amendment. (V1:3, 28, 35) The Appraiser again denied the exemption. (V1:3, 28) The Raceway and Authority filed this lawsuit. (V1:6) The trial court concluded that the 1994 Amendment was unconstitutional because the Legislature exceeded its authority when it enacted the 1994 Amendment. (V1:157) The Raceway and

^{3/} In full, the 1994 Amendment reads:

The use by a lessee, licensee, or management company of real property or a portion thereof as a convention center, visitor center, sports facility with permanent seating, concert hall, arena, stadium, park, or beach is deemed a use that serves a governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function when access to the property is open to the general public with or without a charge for admission.

Ch. 94-353, § 59, Laws of Fla. (codified at § 196.012(6), Fla. Stat. (1997)).

Authority appealed this ruling to the Second District Court of Appeal. See Sebring Airport Auth. v. McIntyre, 718 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) ("Sebring II").

On appeal, the Raceway and Authority argued that this Court should defer to the Legislature's conclusion that the facilities listed in the 1994 Amendment served public purposes. In support of the Legislature's reasonableness, the Raceway and Authority argued that tourism served valid public purposes and that the operation of the racetrack furthered tourism. The Raceway noted that this Court, in Poe v. Hillsborough County, 695 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 1997), concluded that the tourism created by the operation of a football stadium served a valid public purpose to support the validity of a bond validation proceeding. See Sebring II, 718 So. 2d at 299. The Second District disagreed with the applicability of the Poe holding, asserting that, in Poe, this Court "was concerned with whether or not a particular clause in a stadium lease... would change the purpose of the project" so as to affect the validity of a proposed bond issue. Id.

The Second District ultimately affirmed the trial court's conclusion that the 1994 Amendment was unconstitutional, holding that it was "an impermissible attempt by the legislature to create a tax exemption that is not authorized by the Florida Constitution." Id. at 297. The court also held that:

[t]he use of the property appears to be the determinative factor in favor of exemption. There is nothing in the constitution which purports to exempt property, whether owned by a municipality or a private entity, when the

property is being used for a proprietary purpose.

Id.

This timely appeal by the Authority and Raceway followed.^{4/}

^{4/} The Department of Revenue also appealed the lower court's order to the extent the lower court held section 196.012(6) unconstitutional.

POINTS ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE LEGISLATURE USED THE NORMAL AND ORDINARY MEANING OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL TERM "PUBLIC PURPOSES" WHEN IT INCLUDED IN § 196.012(6) THE TYPES OF FOR-PROFIT-OPERATED FACILITIES WHICH ARE RECOGNIZED NATIONWIDE TO PROMOTE THE GENERAL WELFARE BY STIMULATING TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT.
 - A. Whether the Mere Lease of Government Property to a For-Profit Lessee Undermines the "Public Purpose" Use of the Property.
 - B. Whether the Construction and Operation of Facilities Promoting Tourism and Economic Development Fall Within the Definition of "Public Purposes."
 - C. Whether the Constitutional Limitation on "Use" by a Municipality Focuses on the Actual Use to Which the Property Is Put, Not the Status of the Lessee of the Property.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appeal before this Court results from the struggle between citizen expectations and government finances. The societal change causing such legal disharmony is the nationwide trend of citizens expecting more services from their governments. This expectation, in turn, increases the monetary pressures on government to provide these services as efficiently as possible.

Without creativity, however, government does not always have the additional revenues needed to finance these expected services. Operation of our government is partially financed by the ad valorem taxes it collects. Citizens understandably find it unpalatable for their ad valorem tax to be continuously increased. One enterprising alternative is to offer ad valorem tax exemptions to private industry willing to supply the needed public service.

This financing option -- offering tax incentives -- is not left to the unfettered whims of local government, or even of the state Legislature. By the terms of their Constitution, the people of this state have decided which uses of property will receive such exemptions. In enacting these constitutional provisions, our citizens have implicitly concluded that encouraging the creation or continuation of certain activities outweighs the ad valorem tax revenues that would have been collected from such activities. One such constitutional provision mandates exemptions for real property that serves public purposes.

The Constitution does not define what constitutes a public purpose. This task is, as it should be, left to the Legislature.

Identifying the needs of its citizens, the Legislature is best suited to weigh these exemptions against the need government has for ad valorem tax revenues to financially support its operations. If the Legislature is most thoroughly equipped to strike a balance between societal demands and government's fiscal needs, it follows the Legislature is also best suited to define what are public purposes within this context.

Not only is this the practical result of our style of government, it is consistent with the legal rule pronounced by this Court. This Court has continuously recognized that, unless patently erroneous, Florida courts should defer to the Legislature's definition of what serves a public purpose. The premise for this rule is that the Legislature, as a popularly elected body, is better attuned to citizens' needs and demands, and is therefore in a superior position to determine what constitutes public purposes.

The nationwide consensus among the courts addressing the public purpose issue is that its definition is not static. Rather, what constitutes a public purpose depends upon the times, interests, and conditions confronting the community at the moment the definition is decided. Certainly, what was **not** a public purpose 20 years ago -- such as a \$200-million sports complex -- may, in this day and age, be viewed as an essential facility for any viable community.

Of the states that have recently addressed the issue, most, if not all, have concluded that the construction and for-profit

operation of facilities such as stadiums, arenas, and convention centers, do serve the valid public purpose of encouraging tourism and economic development. Tourism and economic development may not have been as starkly recognized 50 years ago as serving public purposes. But in today's world, these purposes have been recognized as so essential to any community competing for precious dollars that courts have routinely sanctioned tax exempt status to such facilities.

The 1994 Amendment reflects what today's world considers to be facilities that serve valid public purposes, regardless of whether operated by a lessee for-profit. Decisions from around the country certainly highlight the reasonableness of the Legislature's public purpose definition. This Court should defer to the Legislature's knowledge and conclude that the Legislature was not patently erroneous when it defined public purposes to include the facilities listed in the 1994 Amendment.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE LEGISLATURE USED THE NORMAL AND ORDINARY MEANING OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL TERM "PUBLIC PURPOSES" WHEN IT INCLUDED IN § 196.012(6) THE TYPES OF FOR-PROFIT-OPERATED FACILITIES WHICH ARE RECOGNIZED NATIONWIDE TO PROMOTE THE GENERAL WELFARE BY STIMULATING TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT.

The issue before this Court involves the Florida Legislature's role in defining, by statute, the constitutional term "public purposes." The Legislature had the power to construe the term "public purposes" as used in Article VII, section 3(a), of the Florida Constitution.^{5/} See Department of Revenue v. Florida Boaters Ass'n, 409 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1981). The only limitation was that the Legislature must give this term its normal and ordinary meaning. See id. at 19. This Court has held on several occasions that legislative declarations of public purpose are presumed valid, and should be deemed correct unless patently erroneous. See, e.g., Pepin v. Division of Bond Fin., 493 So. 2d 1013, 1014 (Fla. 1986); Zedek v. Indian Trace Community Dev. Dist., 428 So. 2d 647, 648 (Fla. 1983).

Rather than attempting to define "public purposes" in the first instance, then, this Court should defer, as it ordinarily does, to the Legislature's definition of the term in the 1994 Amendment unless patently erroneous. Appellants believe that given

^{5/} All property owned by a municipality and used exclusively by it for municipal or **public purposes** shall be exempt from taxation.

Art. VII, § 3(a), Fla. Const. (emphasis added).

societal changes, overwhelming out-of-state authority, and recent constitutional amendments, this Court should conclude the Legislature properly used the normal and ordinary meaning of the term "public purposes" in the 1994 Amendment.^{6/}

A. The Mere Lease of Government Property to a For-Profit Lessee Does Not Undermine the "Public Purpose" Use of the Property.

The original analyses of whether facilities serve public purposes to be entitled to an ad valorem tax exemption are found in Straughn v. Camp, 293 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1974) and Williams v. Jones, 326 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1975). However, the facts -- and therefore the concern -- in both cases are strikingly different from the facts here.

In Straughn, this Court held:

The finding by the trial court that the plaintiffs'... leaseholds (**i.e., mostly leases for dwellings used as private homes**) serve a public purpose... is a finding of law contrary to controlling case law.

...

The plaintiffs ... admit that the great majority of their leases are those wherein **an**

^{6/} Much of the case law developing the definition of public purposes dealt with the issue in terms of statutory construction, due to the absence of an unequivocal express statutory public purpose definition. See, e.g., Sebring Airport Auth. v. McIntyre, 642 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1994); Volusia County v. Daytona Beach Racing & Recreational Facilities Dist., 341 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 1977); see also Amicus Br. of the Fla. League of Cities, et al. To the extent such cases discern a legislative intent to distinguish between governmental-governmental and governmental-proprietary purposes, the 1994 Amendment unequivocally supersedes them. The Legislature has now weighed in with its definition of "public purposes," which rejects the use of the more limited proprietary analysis when considering facilities listed in the 1994 Amendment.

individual lessee is occupying and enjoying a private home for the use and benefit of the lessee and his or her family.

293 So. 2d at 695 (emphasis added). Here, conversely, the facilities listed in the 1994 Amendment are only exempt if open to the general public. Thus, the Straughn concern -- use limited to a select few -- is not present here.

In Williams, this Court expressed concern that one commercial establishment operating for-profit could be given a tax exemption, but another one located in an adjoining county would not be afforded such an exemption. See, 326 So. 2d at 433. In sum, this Court was concerned that there be "equality" in taxing in our free-market economic system.

While this analysis makes sense with respect to the types of for-profit commercial establishments involved in Williams -- barber shops, plumbing businesses, laundries -- the same concern is simply not present with respect to the facilities contained in the 1994 Amendment. Practically speaking, without the involvement of government and significant community support -- that is, without a public-private alliance -- no developer will undertake the massive expenditures needed to build a stadium or convention center, which, in today's world, easily exceeds \$200 to \$300 million per stadium.

In short, the 1994 Amendment is fully consistent with Williams and Straughn. In deciding which types of facilities to include, the Legislature reasonably singled out those facilities which depend on significant government and community support for their

successful operation, and which benefit the public as a whole in a way that private homes and barber shops do not.

Moreover, the 1994 Amendment overcomes the prior precedent obstacle this court encountered in Sebring I -- Volusia County v. Daytona Beach Racing & Recreational Facilities Dist., 341 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 1977). In Volusia County, this Court stated that the operation of an automobile racetrack for profit is not even arguably the performance of a "governmental-governmental" function. See id. at 501. As previously explained, see supra note 6, now that the Legislature has expressly described certain facilities that serve a public function, this Court's more narrow governmental-governmental test could apply only to uses of property outside the scope of the 1994 Amendment. With respect to those facilities listed in the 1994 Amendment, this Court need only decide whether the amendment's definition of a public purpose is a reasonable one. If so, then the facility here -- a sports facility with permanent seating -- serves a public purpose even if the activity taking place in this sports facility is the operation of a racetrack. To the extent this Court disagrees with this analysis, and given the public policy arguments made herein, Appellants alternatively request this Court to reconsider its conclusion that a racetrack can never serve a public purpose.

The history of the Sebring race is an instructive example of the public-private alliance required to build and operate the type of facility listed in the 1994 Amendment. For many years, the Authority itself oversaw operation of the racetrack to carry out

the public purpose of stimulating Sebring's share of the state's tourist economy. See ch. 67-2070, §§ 2, 22, Laws of Fla., as amended by, ch. 89-484, Laws of Fla. (authorizing, inter alia, the Authority's operation of racing facilities as "essential to the economic welfare of the inhabitants of the City of Sebring"). When it became apparent that, without more skilled management, the Authority's efforts to put Sebring on the map would ultimately fail, local government solicited the assistance of companies that had the experience and know-how to fulfill the Authority's objectives more efficiently. (V1:35-36) They found the Raceway. It would be incongruous to conclude that the use of the property by the Authority to conduct the race serves public purposes, but that the same use by the Raceway does not serve public purposes simply because the operator or lessee is a for-profit company more capable of running the event.

Thus, although they are frequently operated by for-profit companies, the facilities listed in the 1994 Amendment are not typical private-sector businesses; indeed, they are not really part of the private sector at all. There is no "competition" amongst these types of facilities because they are not routinely built and operated as part of our free market economy.

Unlike restaurants or barber shops, private industry alone does not bring about the creation and operation of stadiums or convention centers. Unless there is a public-private alliance, these type of capital improvements are rarely built in the first place. Application of the underlying premise for requiring that

property serve public purposes -- equality in taxing-- is thus not a concern for the types of facilities that the Legislature deemed to serve public purposes in the 1994 Amendment.

As reflected in constitutional amendments subsequent to Williams, moreover, the citizens of Florida have concluded that equality of taxation must coexist with other principles, such as ensuring the economic viability of this state. For instance, Article VII, section 3, of the Florida Constitution authorizes, and section 196.1995, Florida Statutes, implements, an ad valorem tax exemption to new business as defined in section 196.012(15). There is no limitation that the new business be not-for-profit. Yet, the effect of this constitutional tax exemption gives new businesses a tax break that other businesses do not have. The clear purpose of this tax exemption is to stimulate economic growth in this state. The citizens of this state presumably understood this point when they adopted this amendment, but nonetheless concluded that the tax break was justified in light of the substantial benefits to be reaped from new business development. See also Article VII, section 3(e) and section 199.1997 (ad valorem tax exemption for historic properties); Article VII, section 3(d) and section 196.175 (ad valorem exemption for renewable energy source device); section 376.84 (Brownfield redevelopment economic incentives). As can be seen from these post-Williams constitutional amendments, the majority of Florida residents have sanctioned the use of selective tax exemptions to stimulate the state's economy in areas which they feel merit assistance.

Practically speaking, governments are not necessarily denied needed revenues when a for-profit corporation receives an ad valorem tax exemption. Rather, providing an ad valorem tax exemption to a for-profit governmental lessee may **benefit** government. If a governmental entity is able to shift the economic responsibility for a public function to a private for-profit lessee, the governmental entity is skillfully channeling its funds to provide other public services. The Legislature could thus reasonably conclude that tax revenues relinquished by the governmental entity are minimal compared to the public funds the taxpayers save as a result of this transaction. Indeed, in exchange for relinquishing the right to receive tax revenues, governmental units often derive a direct monetary benefit from the projects by their receipt of rental or license income and/or a percentage of revenues or profits.

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