SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Consolidated Case Nos. 94,105 & 94,118

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA; THE SEBRING AIRPORT AUTHORITY, and SEBRING INTERNATIONAL RACEWAY, INC.,

Appellants,

vs.

C. RAYMOND McINTYRE,

Property Appraiser of Highlands County, Florida; and J. T. LANDRESS, Tax Collector of Highlands County, Florida,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE C. RAYMOND McINTYRE, HIGHLANDS COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER

> Larry E. Levy Fla Bar No. 047019 The Levy Law Firm 1828 Riggins Road Tallahassee, Florida 32308 850/219-0220 Counsel for appellee **

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

Besides its decisions in <u>Palethrope</u> and <u>Interlachen Lakes Estates</u>, this Court has consistently and repeatedly held as unconstitutional statutes purporting to grant exemptions from ad valorem taxation that were not expressly authorized by the constitution. <u>E.g. Presbyterian Homes of Synod v. Wood</u>, 297 So.2d 556 (Fla.
1974) (statutory income test for determining charitable status of home for the aged is unconstitutional because general law must contain criteria which correspond to constitutional limitation); Franks v. Davis, 145 So.2d 228, 231 (Fla. 1962)(statute assessing stock in trade at 25 percent of invoice cost unconstitutionally violated just value requirement and effectively created exemption where none was permitted); State ex rel. Miller v. Doss, 2 So.2d 303, 304 (Fla. 1941)(granting taxpayer's mandamus action to coerce property appraiser to deny exemption for property only used predominately, and not exclusively, for charitable purposes because statute insofar as it permitted an exemption for property not used exclusively for charitable purposes — was unconstitutional under the 1885 constitution); State ex rel. Burbridge v. St. John, 143 Fla. 876, 197 So. 549 (1940)(granting taxpayer's mandamus action to coerce property appraiser to deny exemption even though he relied upon statute providing that housing finance agency performed municipal purposes; statute was unconstitutional because agency activities were proprietary and legislative definition cannot circumvent the constitution); see also Lykes Bros., (recognizing that the legislature did not have constitutional authority to exempt municipally-owned property leased to a private lessee using the property for a proprietary purpose but interpreting statute to avoid declaring it unconstitutional).

The importance of the constitutional limitations on the legislature's power to exempt certain types of property from ad valorem taxation cannot be overstated. Ad valorem taxes are the primary source of funding for local government and are capped at ten mills. <u>See</u> Art. VII, § 9, Fla. Const. On the other hand, the state is constitutionally prohibited from levying ad valorem taxes. As article VII, section 1 provides:

(a) No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. <u>No state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate</u> <u>or tangible personal property</u>. All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law.

(Emphasis added.) Any legislative exemption from ad valorem taxation, therefore, has no effect upon the state's coffers but, instead, erodes the tax base for local government. As common sense dictates, it is much easier for the legislature to grant exemptions from ad valorem taxation accommodating political exigencies where there is no resulting loss of revenue to its budget. Once the legislature passes a constitutionally-unauthorized exemption, the property appraiser is the only elected official in the county with the ability, and the responsibility, to protect the county's tax base. The property appraiser's primary responsibility — as a constitutional officer — is to follow and apply the constitution.

All of the aforementioned cases were decisions where the Florida courts have either struck down statutes which were not constitutionally permissible as attempting to create special tax exemption, or arrived at conclusions noting the constitutional limitations on the legislature's power. The rationale of each of these cases is equally appropriate to the statute in the case at bar. It directly attempts to exempt property which is otherwise taxable and which has been so held by this court. Whether viewed as a legislative attempt to declare that a racetrack constitutes a sovereign/governmental function, or as an attempt to <u>define</u> what constitutes a governmental/governmental function, the end result is the same; that is, it is an attempt to grant an exemption for privately used property without a constitutional basis.

Any analysis of the fundamental law set forth in the constitution must be based on a recognition that the Florida Constitution is a limitation of power and not a grant of power and that the limitation operates to deprive the legislature of the authority to enact statutes which are inconsistent with the fundamental precepts in the constitution. <u>See L. Maxcy, Inc; State ex rel. Moodie v. Bryan</u>, 39 So. 929 (Fla. 1905).

Having enumerated the only permitted exempt uses of property, the legislature is without power to create others whether same is owned by a public

body or a church. For instance, if a church or church school possessed a section 501(c)(3) federal exemption certificate from the Internal Revenue Service and, subsequently, engaged in a business venture, such as book publishing and sales, it would be taxed by the Internal Revenue Service on unrelated business income. See §§501(c)(3)(a) and (b), Internal Revenue Code; Peoples Ed. Camp. Soc., Inc. v. C.I.R. C.A.N.Y., 331 F.2d 293 (1964), cert. denied, 379 U.S. 839 (1964). Obviously, the property where the publishing operation was conducted should be taxed like a similar private endeavor. The church would have abandoned its use which bottomed its right to exemption.

Fundamental to any appreciation of exemption for governmental property must be a recognition of that which bottoms the exemption. Governmental property employed in the operation of government, that is employed in the administration of sovereign functions of government, would not be taxed by the government for which it is providing the sovereign functions. This court recognized this underlying premise in <u>Bancroft Inv. Corp.</u>, which was also cited by the trial court and district court, which held that the right to exemption ceases when the property is abandoned for the use that would warrant the exemption. <u>Bancroft Inv.</u> Corp, which was cited in Williams, in holding that the exemption from taxation was

30

lost when the use of the property which gave right to the exemption was abandoned,

stated:

If I abandon my homestead, it loses its right of exemption from taxation as soon as abandoned. We think the rule is general; that property dedicated to municipal, educational, religious, or other purposes that exempt it from taxation, reverts to its original status and becomes subject to state and municipal taxes as soon as it is abandoned for the purpose that fixes its exemption status. We think what we have said concludes the question, but Section 6.04 is also persuasive. This statute deals with the question of jurisdiction on the part of the state and federal governments over lands acquired by the latter for needful federal purposes and concludes with this limitation exempting "said lands from any taxation under the raceway of this state while the same shall continue to be owned, held, used, and occupied by the United States for the purposes above expressed and intended, and not otherwise." The statute does not list "post office" sites, but the statute listing the lands that may be acquired (Section 6.02) has the omnibus clause, "other needful buildings," so we would strain no rule of interpretation to hold that they were included. At any rate, every rule of interpretation cuts off the right of tax exemption as soon as it is abandoned for the use that warrants it.

27 So.2d at 171 (emphasis added). Bancroft Inv. Corp. was cited in Williams as

follows:

As to the power of the Legislature to so legislate, the words of Mr. Justice Terrell on rehearing in the case of *Bancroft Inv. Corp. v. City of Jacksonville*, 157 Fla. 546, 27 So.2d 162 (1946), provide a guiding principle concerning the function of the Court in reviewing the

exercise by the Legislature of its taxing power when he stated at page 170 of the opinion:

"... We approach it on the premise that this is a democracy in which every parcel of property is expected to bear its due portion of the burden of government, unless exempted by the legislature in the manner provided by Section 1, Article IX of the Constitution. Courts have no more important function than to direct the current of the law in harmony with sound democratic theory."

In that case the Court, on rehearing, determined that the equitable interest of a purchaser of certain real property in Jacksonville, Florida, from the United States Government under an executory contract for sale was a sufficient interest in real estate to justify levy of ad valorem real estate taxes thereon.

326 So.2d at 429.

At bar, any claim to exemption by the authority ceased when the property was leased to be used as commercial property by a private lessee. These pronouncements are equally appropriate today. <u>Bancroft Inv. Corp.</u> recognized that no exemption is authorized in the constitution for privately used government owned property where the government, by its actions, has abandoned its use of the property or a use of the property which provided exemption. The holding and comments in <u>Bancroft Inv. Corp.</u>, concerning use of property, abandonment, and right to non-

taxable status, is entirely in keeping with the underlying principle that recognizes that governmental property performing governmental services for the state's inhabitants, would not be subject to tax because the effect of it would be that the government would be taxing itself on property used in the performance of its governmental services on behalf of the people. These general principles are recognized in 84 C.J.S., section 198 (1954), as follows:

> Unless congress consents thereto, all property belonging to the United States, devoted to public uses, is immune from state taxation; <u>but</u>, <u>when federal property is placed in</u> <u>a private enterprise for gain, the immunity has no</u> <u>application.</u> So the state may tax private property in which the federal government may have an interest, or property the legal title of which is in the United States, but the beneficial ownership in another.

The court in <u>Bancroft Inv. Corp.</u> recognized this principle.

Taxation of municipal property not used for governmental purpose is generally recognized. The general rule would be that public property and land dedicated to <u>a public use</u> are not subject to taxation. <u>See</u> 84 C.J.S. § 197 (1954). The same authority addresses property held for public purposes stating that the property of municipal corporations "which is immune from taxation is such as is owned and held by it in its capacity as an integral part of the state government, ….." § 203, 84 C.J.S., at 389. The holdings authored by Judge Grimes in City of Bartow and Judge Quince in <u>Sebring III</u> are squarely consistent with these general principles articulated in <u>Bancroft Inv. Corp.</u>, and 84 C.J.S. section 198, that once the governmental unit (the city) chooses to engage in the type of proprietary activities which place it in competition with private business, then its property becomes taxable. In 84 C.J.S., at page 390, this general principle is recognized as follows:

> There is no implied immunity from taxation of property owned by a municipal corporation, which is not devoted to public or governmental uses, but held by the municipality in its private or commercial capacity as a source of profit or to serve some mere convenience of the citizens. So, in the absence of an express exemption, land of a city or other municipal corporation which is rented out to private persons from which it derives a revenue is subject to taxation; and the same rule applies to wharf property of a city which is in a similar manner made profitable to it, to a public market or market houses from which it derives a revenue, and to municipal farms operated for a profit. Property of a lighting company, such as lamps, office furniture, horses, wagons, etc, used by the company pursuant to its contract with a municipality, is not devoted to public use so as to be immune from taxation. If property is used both for public and private purposes and the parts so used cannot be separated, the whole is subject to taxation.

Section 204, 84 C.J.S., at 390. City of Bartow and Sebring III are squarely

consistent with these general principles.

In fact, the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Tre-O-Ripe Groves v.</u>

Mills, 266 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972), recognized the principle that tangible

personal property owned by the United States lost its immunity and exemption was deemed abandoned when it was rented or leased to private persons. In <u>Tre-O-Ripe</u> <u>Groves</u>, the court recognized that this general principle was so well stated that no citation of authority was needed for such premise. These various pronouncements recognize a fundamental premise that public property <u>not</u> put to governmental use in the administration of part of the sovereign function of government is taxable while that property which is so used is not.

An oft-recognized principle is stated in § 146, 81A C.J.S., at page 592, as follows:

<u>The state does not have an unlimited right to use</u> <u>property but may use it only for a public purpose</u>, and some constitutional and statutory provisions prohibit the use of public property for private purposes.

Admonitions affecting the state would most assuredly affect the municipalities and counties.

The cases cited herein involve instances where the judiciary is called upon to restrain the legislature from attempting to expand constitutional limitations on exemptions. Regardless of the form taken, these attempts have been held invalid.

(c) As to the amicus' assertions of equitable hardship.

The amicus have contended that since projects and facilities were constructed based upon the 1994 amendment which has now been held unconstitutional, that this Court should uphold the statute because of it having been relied upon. The appraiser suggests that it could not have been reasonably relied upon for two reasons which are: (1) the long-history of cases which have addressed this precise issue, i.e., the use of public owned property for private purposes; and (2) the Florida Constitution expressly addresses the taxable status of any such project.

Although public financing may be permitted for the construction of stadiums and other projects, article VII, section 10, Florida Constitution, addresses the taxable status of any such project upon completion if occupied by any private corporation, association, partnership, or person pursuant to contract or lease and points out that "the property interest created by such contract or lease shall be subject to taxation to the same extent as other privately owned property." This provision which deals with the pledging of credit by governmental entities is quite specific.

These two should have supplied ample "red flags" to any city government or city attorney involved in any public financing so that no city or public body should ever have signed any agreements which would require that the city pay any taxes which may be levied. It is simply incredulous that this could have occurred and for the involved cities to now contend that they have been misled in reliance on the 1994 amendment in light of the long-history of cases cited herein which have stricken legislative enactments which attempted to grant exemptions without constitutional basis, cannot be seriously considered to be believable. Any "wounding" was self-inflicted. In fact, any negotiated terms and agreements entered into by the City of Tampa, City of St. Petersburg, or City of Lakeland with private entities underscore that stated herein, and such were indisputably municipal/corporate-proprietary activities. If any such agreement in any way waived or abdicated the cities' taxing power, such would be ultra vires and void for the same reasons stated by this Court in Lykes Bros.

CONCLUSION

The decisions of the trial court and the district court holding section 59, chapter 94-353, Laws of Florida, unconstitutional should be upheld for the reasons articulated by this Court in <u>Canaveral Port Auth.</u>, <u>Florida Boaters</u>, <u>City of Bartow</u>, <u>Lykes Bros.</u>, <u>Archer</u>, <u>Williams</u>, <u>Volusia County</u>, and other authorities cited. The amendment offends article VII, section 3(a), because the property is no longer used

by the city, and "public purpose," as used in the constitution means governmental/ governmental purpose. The right to exemption has been abandoned.